1989

# Leon Sprouse v. Roy N. Jager, Artie Edmunds, and Interwest Commercial Properties : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal as of right from the judgment of the Court in a civil case following a bench trial. The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(j) (Supp. 1989). The Supreme Court transferred this case to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) (Supp. 1989). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (Supp. 1989).

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is a modification of the payment terms of a real estate commission required by the statute of frauds to be in writing and signed by the real estate broker?

2. Did the evidence establish as a matter of law that Edmunds consented to and accepted the modification of a contract for payment of a real estate commission and was the trial court's finding, that Edmunds did not consent to the modification, contrary to the great weight of the evidence?

3. May a party selectively claim the benefits of lien, interest, and attorney fee provisions of a contract while repudiating other integral portions of the same contract?

4. Did the trial court err in awarding Edmunds all of his attorney fees incurred in this litigation where most of the fees were not related to the point on which plaintiff prevailed?

## DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4 (1989), as in effect at the times in issue, provided, in pertinent part, as follows:

In the following cases, every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

. . . .

(5) Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.

Section 25-5-4 was amended in 1989 effective April 24,

1989, but no substantive changes were made in the quoted provisions. Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4 (Supp. 1989).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature Of The Case.

This is a civil case to recover a real estate commission. The case arises out of the sale of a motel in St. George, Utah. Numerous other claims were asserted among the parties but are not relevant to the issues raised on appeal.

### B. Course Of Proceedings And Disposition Below.

Leon Sprouse commenced this action on September 10, 1986, by filing a complaint against Arjen W. Jager to declare a forfeiture of Jager's interest, under a Uniform Real Estate Contract, in the motel which Jager had purchased from Sprouse. (R. vol. I, pp. 1-7.) Artie Edmunds, although not then a party to the action, filed an affidavit claiming an interest in the property. (R. vol. I, p. 47.) Sprouse ultimately amended his complaint to seek judicial foreclosure of all interests inferior to his vendor's interest under the Uniform Real Estate Contract, and named Artie Edmunds and others as additional defendants. (R. vol. I, pp. 93-103.) Arjen Jager asserted a counterclaim against Sprouse alleging that Sprouse made fraudulent misrepresentations to induce Jager to purchase the motel, and filed a cross-claim against Artie Edmunds making essentially the same allegations. (R. vol. I, pp. 107-20.) Edmunds filed a counterclaim against Sprouse for a declaration that he had a lien on

the motel pursuant to a "Note/Agreement/Assignment" and alleged that his lien should be paid first from the proceeds of any foreclosure sale, and also cross-claimed against Jager for foreclosure of that lien. (R. vol. I, pp. 126-34.)

A judgment and decree of foreclosure was ultimately entered against the defendants. (R. vol. II, pp. 96-99, 190.) The property was sold at a sheriff's sale on December 10, 1987, and the property was sold to Leon Sprouse for a credit bid of \$360,000.00. (R. vol. II, pp. 102-03.) The remaining claims by and against Jager were subsequently dismissed by stipulation of the parties. (R. vol. II, pp. 194-95.)

On October 22, 1987, which was subsequent to the hearing which resulted in the Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure, but prior to the entry of that Judgment, Roy N. Larsen, Artie Edmunds, and Interwest Commercial Properties, as third-party plaintiffs, filed a "Third-Party Complaint in Intervention" against Leon Sprouse, as third-party defendant. (R. vol. II, pp. 83-90.) The Third-Party Complaint in Intervention sought recovery of a real estate commission from Sprouse. Sprouse counterclaimed asserting that the third-party plaintiffs had misrepresented Jager's financial ability and sought dismissal of the claim for a commission and judgment for damages. (R. vol. II, pp. 111-20.) The case proceeded to trial on the Third-Party Complaint in Intervention and Sprouse's counterclaim in the

third-party action.<sup>1</sup> The court after trial found the issues in favor of the third-party plaintiffs and entered Reinstated Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Reinstated Judgment on July 12, 1989.<sup>2</sup> (R. vol. II, pp. 147-53, 154-55.)

Sprouse filed his Notice of Appeal on August 10, 1989. (R. vol. III, pp. 194-95.) At the time the Notice of Appeal was filed, Sprouse had pending a motion under Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) for relief from the "Order Reinstating Original Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Original Judgment Nunc Pro Tunc." (R. vol. III, pp. 162-65.) The motion was denied by Order entered on September 1, 1989. (R. vol. III, pp. 201-02.)

C. Statement Of Facts.

This action arises out of the sale of the Oasis Motel in St. George, Utah. Leon Sprouse, the owner of the motel, had

---

<sup>1</sup>Sprouse is unaware of any order which formally dismissed Sprouse's initial complaint against Edmunds or Edmunds' counter-claim against Sprouse.

<sup>2</sup>The convoluted procedural history which led to the entry of "reinstated" findings, conclusions and judgment is not relevant to the issues raised on appeal and is not set forth in detail. Briefly stated, Edmunds submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law and a judgment, and Sprouse objected to the form of the proposals. The proposals were nevertheless inadvertently signed by the court, but not entered, and were subsequently vacated by minute entry. The court then initially sustained Sprouse's objections to the proposed findings and conclusions and directed Edmunds to prepare a new proposal. Edmunds thereafter asserted that Sprouse's initial objection had been untimely and requested that the initial findings of fact and conclusions of law and judgment be reinstated. Sprouse's counsel inadvertently failed to appear at the hearing on the motion for reinstatement, and the motion was granted. Sprouse thereafter moved to vacate the reinstated findings and judgment. The court denied the motion to vacate.

signed a listing agreement with Interwest Commercial Properties, but it had expired on October 12, 1984. (Exhibit No. 1.) In February, 1985, Artie Edmunds, a real estate sales agent for Interwest Commercial Properties (Tr. 77), contacted Sprouse to inquire whether he would be interested in selling the motel to a potential purchaser whom Edmunds had located. (Tr. 84, 165.) No listing agreement was in force at that time. The prospective purchaser, Arjen Jager, had no cash and offered other properties in trade for the down payment. (Tr. 167.) An Earnest Money Sales Agreement was ultimately signed between Arjen Jager and Leon Sprouse on March 11, 1985. (Exhibit No. 2, copy attached in Appendix C.)

The Earnest Money Sales Agreement included a provision signed by Sprouse wherein Sprouse agreed to pay "Artie Edmunds-Interwest Commercial Properties" a \$25,000.00 real estate commission. Sprouse testified that Edmunds had agreed, prior to Sprouse signing the Earnest Money Sales Agreement, that payment of the commission was contingent on Jager performing his obligations under the contract, and agreed to include a provision to that effect in the final closing documents. (Tr. 177-78.) Edmunds disputed that testimony. (Tr. 118.)

The transaction closed on Friday, March 29, 1985. The closing documents were prepared by James Ivins, an attorney and owner of Meridian Title Company. (Tr. 211.) The Earnest Money Sales Agreement was replaced by a Uniform Real Estate Contract. (Exhibit No. 3.) Ivins also prepared a "Note/Agreement/Assign-

ment" to set forth the obligation to pay the real estate commission. It is this Note/Agreement/Assignment (hereinafter "NAA") which was the primary focus of the controversy in this action.

Mr. Ivins testified that his instructions on what to prepare for the closing regarding the real estate commission came only from Mr. Edmunds. (Tr. 215.) He testified that the instructions came both by telephone call (Id.) and by a note mailed to him by Mr. Edmunds. (Tr. 236, 243, Exhibit No. 24.) Ivins specifically testified that Edmunds instructed Ivins that Sprouse was to have no personal liability for the real estate commission if Jager defaulted. (Tr. 213-14, 245-47.) Edmunds acknowledged giving instructions to Ivins that payment of the commission was to be deferred and paid over 48 months (Tr. 104), and acknowledged that he had sent a note (Exhibit 24) to Mr. Ivins concerning the commission. (Tr. 256, l. 21-22.) Edmunds denied making any statements to Ivins regarding what would happen on the real estate commission if Jager defaulted in his payments (Tr. 105), and specifically denied that he had agreed that Sprouse would not be personally liable for the real estate commission. (Tr. 118.)

The NAA was signed by Leon Sprouse with the other documents at the closing. (Tr. 117, 176, 217.) The NAA is signed only by Sprouse. Ivins prepared the NAA for signature only by Sprouse because promissory notes are usually signed only by the promisor

(Tr. 233), and because he was not aware of the statute of frauds relating to real estate commission agreements. (Tr. 242.)

On the following Tuesday, April 2, 1985, Interwest Commercial Properties assigned the NAA to Edmunds. (Tr. 121, Exhibit 16.) On April 24, 1985, Edmunds assigned the NAA to Draper Bank & Trust as security for a loan. (Tr. 123, Exhibit 17.) He reacquired the NAA on September 24, 1986, after this action was commenced. (Tr. 124; Exhibit 19.)

Jager took possession of the motel on April 1, 1985. (Tr. 48.) He made his payments on the contract regularly until May, 1986. (R. vol. I, p. 158.) A portion of each of the payments had been applied to the real estate commission, and the remaining principal balance of the \$25,000.00 commission, at the time Jager stopped making payments, was \$19,226.80. (Exhibit 21.) Jager relinquished possession of the motel to Sprouse on June 28, 1987 (Tr. 50, 51, 61), and Sprouse purchased the motel at the foreclosure sale.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court found that Sprouse did not carry his burden of proof in proving that there had been a modification of the agreement to pay a real estate commission which was initially set forth in the Earnest Money Sales Agreement. The trial court's finding was based in part on the legal conclusion that any modification of the payment terms for the real estate commission was within the statute of frauds and required to be signed by the broker. The statute of frauds does not, however,



apply to modifications of the payment terms of a real estate commission contract. The statute of frauds requires only that the contract of employment (the agreement to pay a commission) be in writing. Once the contract of employment is in writing, the parties may modify the payment provisions of that contract by parol. Where the trial court's factual finding was based on an erroneous assumption of law, the case must be remanded for a new trial.

The trial court's finding, that Sprouse failed to carry his burden of proof of showing that the real estate commission agreement was modified, was also contrary to the great weight of the evidence. Every witness with personal knowledge of the facts, except for Edmunds, testified that Edmunds had agreed that Sprouse would not be personally liable for the commission. The evidence further established, without dispute, that Edmunds treated the NAA as being the sole document which governed the real estate commission obligation. This is reflected in an assignment of the NAA on the Tuesday following the Friday closing, and continuing through the initial pleadings filed by Edmunds in this action. His self-serving denial of consent to the NAA was contrary to the great weight of the evidence and the court erred in failing to find that he had consented to the NAA.

Notwithstanding the trial court's conclusion that Sprouse could not enforce the beneficial provisions of the NAA, the trial court enforced those provisions of the NAA adverse to Sprouse. Piecemeal enforcement of a contract is not permis-

sible. Either the entire contract was agreed to by the parties, or no portion of it was. The trial court's award of prejudgment interest at 12% per annum and the award of attorney fees were both based on provisions of the NAA and must therefore be vacated.

The award of attorney fees is, in any event, not supported by the evidence. Edmunds was entitled to recover attorney fees, if at all, only with respect to the issues on which he prevailed. The testimony showed that only one-third of the \$9,000.00 attorney fees were incurred with respect to the issues on which Edmunds prevailed.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE MODIFICATION OF THE REAL ESTATE COMMISSION AGREEMENT WAS NOT WITHIN THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

The trial court's finding that "defendant has failed to meet his burden of proof on his claim that there was a written or oral modification of his obligation to pay a commission" (Reinstated Findings of Fact, para. 8, R. vol. III, p. 149) was based in part on the court's legal conclusion that any modification of the real estate agreement was required by the statute of frauds to be in writing. (Conclusions of Law, para. 4, R. vol. III, p. 152.) Review of this question of statutory construction should be under a correctness standard with no deference given to the trial court's ruling nor to the finding based thereon. Nephi City v. Hansen, 779 P.2d 673, 674 (Utah 1989).

Sprouse acknowledges for the purpose of this appeal that the Agreement to Pay Real Estate Commission contained in the Earnest Money Sales Agreement dated March 11, 1985, constituted an enforceable obligation pay a real estate commission.<sup>3</sup> The record in this case establishes, however, that there was a subsequent modification of that agreement, the terms of which are set forth in the Note/Agreement/Assignment ("NAA") dated April 1, 1985. The NAA was signed, however, only by Leon Sprouse and was not signed by Edmunds or his principal broker. The trial court held that the modification was barred by the statute of frauds.

The statute of frauds does not apply to this modification because (1) the NAA modified only the terms of payment, whereas the writing requirement of the statute of frauds applies only to the term of employment, (2) neither Edmunds nor his broker was the "party to be charged" and their signatures were not required by the statute of frauds, and (3) the requisite signature was provided in any event by documents signed by Edmunds and his broker as part of the same transaction. These arguments are addressed in order.

---

<sup>3</sup>Sprouse contended at trial that the agreement was unenforceable because of Edmunds' failure to procure a ready, willing, and able buyer, and by Edmunds' misrepresentations concerning Jager's ability to pay for and operate the motel. The facts were in dispute with respect to that issue, and the trial court found the issues in favor of Edmunds. Sprouse accordingly does not challenge that finding on appeal.

- A. Because The NAA Altered Only Terms Of Commission Payment, And Not Terms Authorizing The Broker To Sell, The NAA Is Not Within The Statute Of Frauds.

The general rule governing modifications of contracts within the statute of frauds is "that if the original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement that modifies any of the material parts of the original must also satisfy the statute." Allen v. Kingdom, 723 P.2d 394, 396 (Utah 1986) (emphasis added). Yet, there are many exceptions. As indicated above, if a subsequent modification is not a "material part" of the contract, the modification is not within the statute. The discerning question is what is a "material part" of the contract.

In C. J. Realty, Inc. v. Willey, 758 P.2d 923- (Utah Ct. App. 1988), the court discussed what is "material" in a broker's contract. After finding that Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4(5) applies to brokers' contracts generally, including finders' contracts, the court said that "the essential part of a contract to employ a real estate broker, so far as the statute of frauds is concerned, is the matter of employment." Id. at 928 (quoting Pray v. Anthony, 96 Cal. App. 772, 274 P. 1024, 1029 (1929)). The Utah Code itself provides that:

In the following cases, every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith:

. . . .

(5) Every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation.

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4 (1989 (prior to 1989 amendment)) (emphasis added). It is clear that the "material parts" of a broker's contract are those terms that employ him. Subsequent modification of those terms must be in writing, and subscribed by the party to be charged. Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 669 P.2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985). In this instance, however, the NAA does not alter terms that "authorize" or "employ." Mr. Edmunds was previously authorized to sell the property for a commission, and had performed. Rather, the NAA alters the terms for compensation and is nothing more than a security agreement. These terms are not "material parts" of the original contract within the statute of frauds.

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-1 makes it clear that the purpose of the statute of frauds is to protect interests in real property. In particular, the purpose of § 25-5-4(5) is "to protect property owners from fraudulent and fictitious claims for commissions." C. J. Realty, Inc., 758 P.2d at 927 (citing Williams v. Singleton, 723 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah 1986)). In other words, because the owner employing the broker has an interest in real property, the legislators sought to protect him against claims for commission when the brokers were never "authorized" or "employed." As the result, the contract that "authorizes" or "employs" the broker must be in writing and subscribed by the

party to be charged; while the contract involving only the terms of commission does not.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated several times that § 25-5-4(5) does not apply to terms of commission. In Fowler v. Taylor, 554 P.2d 205 (Utah 1976), a dispute arose between two brokers over the terms of their commissions. The contract between the two was oral, and the defendant contended that because it was oral, the statute of frauds barred its performance. The court held that it did not. The contract was merely an agreement over the terms of commission. 554 P.2d at 208.

Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 699 P.2d 730 (Utah 1985), involved a situation more analogous to the one presented here. In Golden Key, the issue was whether an executory accord over the terms of commission was within the statute of frauds. The court found that an accord is not within the statute of frauds even though the original contract is, unless the accord itself is the type of contract within the statute. 699 P.2d at 732-33. The court held that the modification contract was not within the statute, although it altered the terms of commission and was between the broker and the landowner. Id. The NAA in the instant case similarly was not within the statute of frauds.

B. Even If The NAA Is Within The Statute Of Frauds, The Broker Is Not A "Party to be Charged" And Need Not Evince Acceptance Of The NAA By Signature.

Every contract for the sale of land must be "in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease or sale is to be

made." Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3 (1989). In other words, the party conveying the land must sign the contract to satisfy the requirements of the statute. Williams v. Singleton, 723 P.2d 421, 424 (Utah 1986). This is to protect owners having an interest in real property from buyers suing to force sale. Buyers, on the other hand, need not sign the contract to make it enforceable because they are not "the party to be charged." Id. LeVine v. Whitehouse, 37 Utah 260, 109 P. 2 (1910).

With real estate commissions, the same rule applies. Contracts authorizing or employing the broker to sell property are within the statute of frauds to protect the landowners against fraudulent claims for commission. Fowler v. Taylor, 554 P.2d 205, 208 (Utah 1976). Landowners have an interest in real property that merits the statute's protection. Consequently, only the landowner must sign the real estate contract authorizing and employing the sale to satisfy the requirements of the statute.

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