1989

Leon Sprouse v. Arjen W. Jager, Nada H. Jager, Artie Edmunds, Lloyd Walters, and John Does I through V : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The unrebutted evidence presented at trial showed that the assignment from ICP to Edmunds was made for full value, dollar for dollar, with Edmunds giving ICP cash of \$9,000.00 for its interest in the contract, and that it was done without knowledge of the language in the NAA's second to last paragraph. This is an obvious indication that the parties did not agree to the NAA term relieving Sprouse of liability if Jager defaulted, as Edmunds would certainly not be foolish enough to pay \$9,000.00 for a note that could evaporate into nothing if Jager defaulted, a situation far beyond his control. When Jager did default, Draper Bank sent the note back to Edmunds, contending that

Edmunds was still fully liable to Draper Bank. This conduct shows that Draper Bank had not agreed to the NAA paragraph limiting Sprouse's liability when it received the assignment (see Trial Exhibit No. 19).

There must also be something in the subsequent assignments that clearly show that Edmunds agreed to and accepted the term of the NAA that says Sprouse is not personally liable. This distinguishes this case from those cited by Sprouse. There is simply nothing in any of the subsequent assignments that even suggests a connection, let alone an agreement, to that term. The subsequent assignments, rather than showing an agreement to the disputed term of the NAA, are actually evidence that the term was never agreed upon, otherwise, it is highly doubtful that anyone would be willing to accept or pay value for such an assignment.

In order to satisfy the statute of frauds, the additional writings a party asserts must contain all the essential terms and provisions of the contract to which the parties have agreed, and must set out the conditions of the transaction with adequate certainty, which requirement is not met if the additional writings lack any acknowledgement or recognition that the parties have entered into the alleged agreement. See Machan Hampshire Properties v. Western Real Estate & Dev. 779 P. 2d 230 (Utah 1989).

Sprouse claims that because of the subsequent assignments and because 13 payments were received on the note, that Edmunds has manifested his consent to the NAA. That may be true for the "note" and "assignment" portions of the NAA, because all the

parties testified that it was agreed that Sprouse would sign a note with interest and secure it by an assignment of the UREC, but it is certainly not true of the "agreement" portion of the NAA, to which neither he nor his broker consented.

Sprouse has only indirectly mentioned the issue of part performance on appeal, so suffice it to say that this issue was fully briefed for the trial court (see R. vol. II, pp. 267-271). The acceptance by Draper Bank of 13 payments does not constitute part performance and take the NAA out of the statute of frauds because the payments are not "exclusively referable" to that alleged term, but are consistent with the "note" portion of the NAA, which is not disputed. See, for example, Downtown Athletic Club v. Horman 740 P. 2d 275 (Utah 1987).

The issues in this case are very similar to those in Bushnell Real Estate, Inc. v. Nielson 672 P. 2d 746 (Utah, 1983) because there was not enough cash available at the closing to meet the needs of the parties. The broker, who was entitled to a \$51,000.00 commission, took only \$15,000.00 of it at the closing and the seller signed a note for the balance of \$36,000.00. When the buyer filed for bankruptcy and failed to make further payments, the seller refused to pay the note, claiming, exactly as Sprouse has done here, that (1) payment of the balance of the commission was conditioned upon the buyer's payments; (2) that the escrow agreement, which provided for distribution of the commission from the buyer's payments, showed an agreement that the broker would not look beyond payments coming through the escrow agreement for payment of the commission; and (3) since the

buyer defaulted, the broker had not produced a buyer who was ready, willing and able, a condition to payment on the note. All three of these defenses failed. The district court granted the broker's motion for summary judgment. On appeal, the judgment was affirmed. The court said:

"Absent a contractual provision, which conditions the right to a commission on the performance of the buyer, the general rule accepted in Utah is that a broker has earned his commission upon the procuring of a buyer who is ready, willing and able and who is accepted by the seller. The broker is not an insurer of the subsequent performance of the contract and is not deprived of his right to a commission by the failure or refusal of the buyer to perform."

The court rejected the seller's claim that the escrow agreement, because it specifically provided for payment of the commission out of payments made by the buyer, constituted an agreement by the broker not to look beyond the escrow payments:

"Furthermore, the defendants' contention that the plaintiff look only to the buyer's payments into escrow for its commission would render the note meaningless and ignore the undisputed benefit received by the defendants from the plaintiff's agreement to defer part of the commission due at closing. On its face, the escrow agreement merely provides for a method of distribution of the payments made by the buyer."

The same reasoning applies in this case. Sprouse was obligated to pay the commission at closing. To hold that third-party plaintiffs must look only to Jager's payments for the commission would render the note and assignment portions of Exhibit No. 15, the NAA, meaningless and ignores the undisputed benefit Sprouse received from the broker's willingness to defer the payment of the commission over a four year period.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE ADEQUATELY SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO MUTUAL CONSENT TO THE DISPUTED TERM OF THE NAA. THEREFORE, THE COURT'S ENFORCEMENT OF THE NOTE AND ASSIGNMENT PORTIONS OF THE NAA WAS APPROPRIATE.

If a contract's interpretation is determined by extrinsic evidence of intent, then it is a question of fact. Seashores Inc. v. Hancey, 738 P.2d 645, 647 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). It follows that if a contract's very existence is determined by extrinsic evidence, it is also a question of fact. When a contract is ambiguous and the court finds facts regarding the parties' intent based on extrinsic evidence, the court's review is strictly limited. Copper State Leasing Co. v. Blackner Appliance & Furniture Co., 770 P.2d 88, 90 (Utah 1988). In these circumstances, the trial court's findings will not be disturbed or set aside on appeal unless they are "clearly erroneous", or against the clear weight of the evidence and the appellate court reaches a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987). When the evidence is controverted, the appellate court assumes that the trial judge believed those aspects of the evidence and the inferences reasonably drawn from them that support his decision. Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Tanner, 740 P.2d 1296, 1302 (Utah 1987).

Sprouse's duty on appeal is to marshall all the evidence supporting the trial court's findings, and then demonstrate that the court's findings are clearly erroneous. Sprouse has failed to marshall the evidence supporting the court's findings, but even a brief review shows that the court's findings are amply

supported.

Sprouse claims that Edmunds agreed that he would not be personally liable for the commission at the time he signed the EMSA. Evidence showed that Sprouse is a seasoned and experienced businessman with several business interests, including other motels (Tr. 165, 196). He admitted that he knew such an agreement should have been in writing, but weakly claims there "wasn't room" on the EMSA (Tr. 178, 193). However, he found room to have the commission reduced from six (6%) percent to \$25,000.00, and this change was made at his insistence (Tr. 91-93, 193, 196). The fact is there was plenty of room, either in the commission section itself, or by an attached addendum, of which there were already two pages (Exhibit No. 2). A third would be no trouble. In the commission section itself, the last part of the last line could have been blacked out after the word "payable" and words added to reflect such an agreement. For example, it could easily have been changed to read: "Said commission shall be payable only from Jager's monthly payments and Sprouse is not personally liable for any part of the commission."

Edmunds testified there was no such agreement or even discussion (Tr. 105, 118, 148), and that his broker was adamantly opposed to anything like that and would never allow him to enter into such an agreement (Tr. 118). Roy Larsen, the broker, testified he had not agreed to such an arrangement, and never would authorize such an arrangement (Tr. 26-27). Claudia Ashby and Roy Larsen both testified that, in all their years of

experience, they had never encountered a situation where the seller's liability for the commission was excused if the buyer defaulted, although they both estimated that commission deferral occurs in about 10% of the closings (Tr. 19-20, 36, 42-43).

James Ivins simply made a mistake. Although he testified his recollection was that Edmunds had told him what he put in the second to last paragraph of Exhibit No. 15 (Tr. 241), he admitted that some parts of Exhibit No. 15 were his own creation, such as the assignment language (Tr. 229), and he acknowledged that he was getting information on this transaction from lots of different people and places (Tr. 240). The notes he had could have been from telephone conversations he had with Jager or Sprouse, as he admitted to having such calls (Tr. 211, 223).

The key evidence on determining whether the parties ever agreed to the second to last paragraph of the NAA is Exhibit No. 24, the handwritten note Ivins testified he received from Edmunds after the telephone call in which he thought Edmunds told him there would be no personal liability (Tr. 220, 237). Exhibit No. 24 supports every paragraph of the NAA except the critical second to last paragraph, thereby showing, by what is not said, that there was no agreement that Sprouse would not be personally liable. Ivins testified this was a source document for preparing the NAA (Tr. 221). Very conspicuous by its absence in Exhibit 24 is any mention or reference to the commission not being payable if Jager defaults. Thus, this term was added either at the sole instance of Sprouse or simply by Ivins, who admitted that parts of the NAA were of his own creation. In either case, however,

such added terms are not binding on third-party plaintiffs, who did not sign or assent to the added terms at any time.

Proof that there was no such oral agreement is demonstrated by Edmunds subsequent conduct in giving up his \$9,000.00 share of the commission on the Wyoming closing to obtain ICP's \$9,000.00 interest in the Sprouse-Jager commission (Tr. 29-30, 120-121). Although Edmunds was inexperienced, only a complete fool would give up \$9,000 in cash to acquire a \$9,000 interest in a note that could be wiped out if Jager defaulted. This is the clearest sort of contemporary evidence that Edmunds did not agree to such a term.

The Court heard evidence from all the principal players regarding this NAA. The preparer of the document, Mr. Ivins, testified. The signer of the document, Mr. Sprouse, testified. The payees of the document, Roy Larsen (for Interwest Commercial Properties) and Mr. Edmunds testified. The Court allowed parol evidence concerning that document because it was ambiguous. It was ambiguous because it gives an assignment for security in one paragraph, but then purports to make that assignment meaningless in another paragraph which says that if Jager defaults, Sprouse is not personally liable. The Court accepted all this parol evidence in order to find the true intention of the parties, and found that there had been no meeting of the minds, or mutual assent, to the one term of the NAA that allegedly excuses Sprouse from liability if Jager defaults.

The court appropriately found the agreement of the parties and enforced it. The "note" and "assignment" portions of the NAA

are enforceable against Sprouse because he signed it. Besides, those portions of the NAA were in fact agreed to by Edmunds and ICP (see Exhibit No. 24). But those portions of the NAA would be enforceable against Sprouse even if Edmunds and ICP didn't agree, because Sprouse's signature is the only signature required on a note or an assignment.

The "agreement" portion of the NAA, however, being an agreement, requires that both parties to the agreement manifest their consent by signature. Since neither Edmunds nor ICP signed it, the court received extrinsic evidence to determine whether or not they ever orally agreed to its terms. The court found that the parties never agreed to the disputed term, and that it never became part of their agreement. Sprouse contends that the NAA is an "entire" contract and not "several", but it does not matter, since Sprouse is incorrectly assuming that the disputed second to last paragraph became part of the agreement, but it never did.

In fact, the second to last paragraph of the NAA is contrary to and repugnant with the "assignment" paragraph two paragraphs above it in the same NAA. The first paragraph gives an assignment of the UREC to secure the note, while the second purports to be an agreement that Sprouse alleges relieves him of liability if Jager defaults, even of liability to account to the assignee for the proceeds from the sheriff's sale. If the second is valid, it eviscerates the first, and if the first is valid, it contradicts the second. When there is a repugnancy between two clauses, it is the province and duty of the court to reconcile them if possible, but if not, a subsequent clause that is

irreconcilable with a former clause and repugnant to the general purpose and intent may be disregarded. Mifflin v. Shiki 77 Utah 190, 293 P. 1.

Thus, it was proper for the court to enforce the undisputed "note" and "assignment" portions of the NAA, and to disregard the second to last paragraph, or "agreement" part, since it was never signed and there never was any mutual assent to it.

POINT IV

THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE. IN ANY EVENT, SPROUSE STIPULATED TO THE REASONABLENESS OF THE FEES. NOT HAVING CHALLENGED THE FEES AT TRIAL, SPROUSE CANNOT DO SO FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL. RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO ADDITIONAL FEES ON APPEAL.

There should be no issue that Edmunds is entitled to an award of his attorney's fees. The court found (Reinstated Findings, R. vol. III, pp. 150, ¶¶ 12-13) that an award of attorney's fees to Edmunds was supported by (1) the Earnest Money Sales Agreement (Exhibit No. 2, see paragraph B, page 3; R. vol. II, p. 88); and (2) the attorney's fee provision of the "note" portion of the NAA (Exhibit No. 15). It might also be pointed out that Edmunds, as the holder of a \$25,000.00 interest in the UREC, is entitled to attorney's fees under paragraph 14 of the UREC (Exhibit No. 3) for enforcement of his rights thereunder.

Nevertheless, Sprouse attacks the trial court's award of \$9,000.00 attorney's fees as "unreasonable". At the trial, Sprouse's attorney, R. Clayton Huntsman, suggested, as Mr. Miles was preparing to take the stand to testify, that perhaps a stipulation could be reached as to the reasonableness of the

fees, and told Mr. Miles to make a proffer (Tr. 162). Mr. Miles then made the proffer that he had devoted at least 150 hours to the case, and that his hourly rate was \$60.00 an hour, and requested the court to award attorney's fees of \$9,000.00 (Tr. 162-163). Sprouse's attorney and the court accepted the proffer (Tr. 164; R. vol. II, p. 254).

Sprouse's attorney did not make any objection or even desire to cross-examine (Tr. 164), nor did Sprouse offer any evidence whatsoever regarding attorney's fees. At the conclusion of the trial, since it was already 5:45 p.m., no oral argument was presented (Tr. 259). Instead, the court took the matter under advisement and instructed both parties to file a written memorandum and written closing arguments (Tr. 258). Sprouse did not challenge the requested fees even in his written closing argument (R. vol. II, pp. 280-288). Sprouse should not be permitted to contest the fees for the first time on appeal. See Rule 103(a)(1) of the Utah Rules of Evidence; Hardy v. Hardy 776 P.2d 917 (Utah Ct. App. 1989); State v. Whittle 780 P.2d 819 (Utah 1989).

About a month after the trial, Mr. Huntsman withdrew as Sprouse's counsel (R. vol. III, pp. 1-4), and after Mr. Miles gave Sprouse the required notice to appoint new counsel or appear in person (R. vol. III, pp. 5-8), Sprouse's present counsel entered an appearance (R. vol. III, pp. 11-12).

When a proffer is made and accepted by opposing counsel and the court, the parties should be bound by the proffer. Proffers are useful in saving trial time, especially on those matters not

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